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In terms of a parallel, like Dr. Westermeyer alluded to this morning,
our parallels were something like this; I left the reservation, at my
discretion, and went to prep school. My friend wound up in our State
youth reformatory. I went to college. He wound up in a mental
health security prison. I went to graduate school and he wound up
in our State penitentiary.

That is not an unusual pattern. I think that the kind of testimony
alluded to this morning supports the fact that I think that the two
kinds of upbringing, either mine or my friend Joe's and mine was
being raised on the reservation and incidently, I was raised in a two­
room house and there was 14 people in it, 12 other children besides
myself. It didn't have any adverse effect on me, I don't think, emo­
tionally, or socially, in recognizing that we were in a poverty situation.
I hope to think that I came out right after that kind of experience.

One of the other situations we find is that most of our youth homes
in this State and institutions for delinquent youth, I had an experience
a year ago this spring where I addressed a number of people in the
city of Minnesota and where a number of kids from the State home
school were present.

After I talked to them, a number of the kids came up to me crying.
I said I thought I gave a fairly good speech but I didn't intend to have
everybody crying after I got through. What had happened, the kids
came and said they really didn't know all these things about our
communities.

I said, like what? They said we were told that we couldn't go to our
homes if we didn't have a permit to go back to our reservations. We
were told that we had to have such permission to visit our relatives
on our home reservations. We were told that we couldn't be given any
information about who our parents were and where our home reserva­
tions were, or whether or not we were enrolled in our respective com­
munities.

These kinds of situations, in my mind, are not exceptions. I think
it is true all over in communities across the country.

The situation that we are confronted with is not only a need for
simply, I think, minimal legislation, but I think the question of
sovereignty, the question of whether or not the present poli.cies that are
fostered both by the Federal Government programs, by State govern­
ments and county governments, are in fact another form of systematic
form of genocide of the Indian people. At least they appear to be
institutionalized forms of infanticide, if not institutionalized genocide
of Indian people.

I think we need to look at the repeal or some kind of repeal of 280.
I think that has a lot to do with that, because what has happened
is that States, particularly, have extended, what I think their juris­
diction is under Public Law 280 to have, in their own minds mclude
their right, as they see it, to do what they feel like with Indian State
wards or in the adoption or foster placement of Indian children. If
they see that it is a responsibility that they have under the provisions
of Public Law 280.

I think there again, we have to take a serious look at that being
repealed altogether.

In terms of standards, I think it might be a little difficult but I
think it can concieveably be done, that standards, particularly, for
the removal of, and for homes for Indian children in communities,
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and it's urban communities where we have large numbers of Indians
indigenous to those communities. . ..

For instance, the Navajo Hogan complies and would not be ineligible
to be a home for Navajo Indian children whether it be ~y a nonre­
lated Navajo family or the larger family of a particular tribe.

Looking at all kinds of possibilities, but I think, again, I want to
encourage that when the reviews are done and when we have in fact
133 as a law, one of the areas that will be reviewed will be the question
of sovereignty, not sovereignty in general, at least ~s to whether or not
how it relates to the adoption or placement of Indian children and the
governing of those espoused by the particular Indian tribes and govern­
ing bodies.

Senator ABOUREZK. Thank you verv much.
I have a couple of questions. We heard this morning about cases in

the past 2 years where the children have been literally stolen from ~he

p!i'rents, and I think you were here when the testimony was bemg
given.

What about those children who have been adopted under these
procedures? Can we and should we go back and examine these cases
where this has all happened and try to restore some kind of rights to
the parents and the children? .

Mr. COOK. I do think we reallv have a moral and legal responsi­
bility to do that. OI).e of the things that is happening, and as you all
know I give a lot of addresses to all kind of groups and invariably I
run into people that have either Indian children who are adopted or
are in their homes as foster children, and of course, the kind of deter­
mination in the Indian community is a two-way street. One where
Indians are becoming more sensitive about themselves and about the
children, but on the other hand, the parents that have adopted or
have foster children are becoming more and more sensitive. So, one of
the things that is happening is tha~ these people are comi~g ~o. me and
saying we'd like to have our Indian children become familiar WIth
Indian communities. How can we do this.

I generally reply that I'd like to have some kind of injection from a
bill to do that, but it can't be done.

What happens is that those children in .those circumstances, and
many, many children have been adopted in the last 5. or 10 years
where Indian children have been in vogue m the commumty to adopt,
is that these kids in adopted situations find themselves in. a non­
Indian setting in non-Indian fa~ilies, Indian children, particularly
when it comes to the age of dating, as somethmg other than what
they thought they were.. .., .

I think it stops clearly in their identity of bemg male .and female,
hut they haven't lefl.rnp,o to identifv themselves as Indian or non-
Indian. . .

All that leads to traumatic kinds of situations where we're findmg
ourselves in situations where they are committing suicide, dealing in
drugs and alcohol, those kind of things, school dropouts, juvenile
behavior and all kinds of non-normal kinds of behavior as resulting
from their finding out just who they are and what they are, and prior
to that point in time, the teenage point in their lives and all of a sudden
we're finding ourselves with all of those children now before our
juvenile judges, criminal courts in the State institutions.
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I think that should be at least reviewed. I don't know whether it is
possible to do. I think there are many adoptive and foster home places
that really have done this with good meanings intended but the results
have been traumatic.

Senator ABOUREZK. Mr. Brennan implied during his testimony
that the present feeling about child welfare in the Dakotas, is it was
quite possible that the BIA in the States could implement child wel­
fare reform to adopt the further legislation.

But my question to you, is it not possible that this is only true
because of those tribes that have been protesting the present situation
in the Dakotas? And, wouldn't it be preferable for them not to be at
the mercy of the good will at the BIA and the State, and wouldn't
legislation which prescribes tribal control provide a guarantee that
presently does not exist?

Mr. COOK. I think BIA and the State welfare workers have been
carrying on like at Auschwitz and I don't think they're going to change
overnight, I think that the only way you're going to change is to
establish law and legislation to forbid and prohibit that kind of mass
adoption and theft and placement of Indian children. I don't think
anybody in the county ~overnment, or BIA is going to do that volun­
tarily. If they were gomg to do that they would have done that a
long time ago.

Senator ABOUREZK. I don't have any more questions and I merely
wanted to express my gratitude for our committee for your coming
here to testify here today. I appreciate it.

The next set of witnesses is Mary Ann Lawrence of Pine Ridge,
S. Dak., and Mr. Richard Lone Dog of Rosebud, S. Dak., who is
presently director for the Rosebud Detention Center.

I would like to welcome both of you to the committee. Do you
have any prepared statements?

Ms. LAWRENCE. No; I don't.

STATEMENT OF MARY ANN LAWRENCE, PINE RIDGE, S. DAK., AND
RICHARD LONE DOG, ROSEBUD DETENTION CENTER, ROSEBUD,
S. DAK.

My name is Mary Ann Lawrence and I'm from South Dakota.
Pine Ridge.

Senator ABouREzK. What is your present position Mary Ann?
Ms. LAWRENCE. Director for the Indian family defense project

and I work with the Association on American Indian Affairs.
Working with the family defense project, I took a survey of the

Rosebud Indian Reservation. I visited families, a lot of people about
child welfare trying to find out how much interest they have in child
welfare.

Through these interviews I found out that there was quite a few of
the people, through the children of the health welfare, not only in
South Dakota but across in Nebraska, the Nebraska State welfare
has taken a lot of children from the people.

Senator ABOUREZK. When you did the interviews, did you compile
any statistics or numbers or people and so on?

Ms. LAWRENCE. Yes, but I don't have it with me.
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Senator ABOUREZK. Would you like to send it in to the committee?
Ms. LAWRENCE. Yes.
.Senato~ ~BOUREZK. We will hold the record open for 2 weeks if you

will send It III when you get back. We would sure appreciate it.
Ms. LAWRENCE. All right.
Senator ABOUREZK. Go ahead, Mary Ann. What did you find out

from the interviews?
Ms. LAWRENCE. I found most of the people are concerned about the

Indian children, but it seems to me like once an Indian family loses a
child, they give up. They don't try anymore. Their minds are already
made up.

Senator ABOUREZK. You think once welfare takes a child away from
them?

Ms. LAWRENCE. Yes; that's right.
Senator ABOUREZK. What about the extent of legal help from law­

yers that they get or don't get?
Ms. LAWRENCE. Most of the people that I've interviewed don't

seem to realize that they can get legal help.
Senator ABOUREZK. What did you find out when you advised them

there was legal help available to them through tribal poverty lawyers
or other sources?

Ms. LAWRENCE. Why didn't anyone tell them?
Senator ABOUREZK. Did any of them feel like they wanted to go back

if they could get legal help?
Ms. LAWRENCE. Yes, most of them.
Senator ABOUREZK. Did they try them, to your knowledge?
Ms. LAWRENCE. Yes. Some of them right now are trying to get their

children back.
Senator ABOUREZK. Do you think it would be good to have a require­

ment that the welfare agencies and an attorney be notified and ap­
pointed to represent the parents?

Ms. LAWRENCE. Yes, and the children, too.
Senator ABOUREZK. And the children? Do you think that would be

a good requirement to have into law?
Ms. LAwnENCE. Yes.
Senator ABOUREZK. What would it do for the spirits of the Indian

parents themselves? Would that be of benefit to them, you think?
Ms. LAWRENCE. Yes; I think so.
Senator ABOUREZK. What else did you find out in your survey,

Mary Ann?
Ms. LAWRENCE. I found out that the Indian people are interested

in foster home care but the problems most of them have--
Senator ABOUREZK. Excuse me. When you say they are interested

in foster home care, does that mean they would be willing to take
other Indian children in if someone wanted to adopt one out?

Ms. LAWRENCE. Yes.
Senator ABOUREZK. Did you find that in cases where Indian children

were taken out of the homes that the welfare people in the area you
surveyed were put in non-Indian homes or were they put in other
Indian homes?

Ms. LAWRENCE. I found it pretty well mixed; some in Indian homes,
some not.

:'~
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Senator ABOUREZK. Do you recall the percentages?
Ms. LAWRENCE. No.
Senator ABOUREZK. That would be as particular as you can

remember? -I

Ms. LAWRENCE. Yes. It seems that there were 43 places, or
placement..

Senator ABOUREZK. In foster homes?
Ms. LAWRENCE. Yes.
Senator ABOUREZK. Do they have to be licensed by the tribe?
Ms. LAWRENCE. No, by the State welfare.
Senator ABOUREZK. Licensed by the State welfare agency.
How many of those were Indian houses and how many were non­

Indian homes?
Ms. LAWRENCE. It was at least 19 non-Indian homes, the rest of

them were Indian homes.
Another thing is, the requirements of the State's regulations are

so strict that most of the Indian people could not get their license.
Senator ABOUREZK. How much is the license?
Ms. LAWRENCE. I'm not talking about money, about regulations.

The regulations are pretty steep. Like if there is a family of five
children, of the same family, are to be put in a foster home, the foster
home may have four children of their own already. The State says
they cannot take or have over six children in their home. Then this
family, no matter how much they wanted to take all the five children
to keep them together, cannot do it.

In other words, they have to separate the five children. I think
that hurts the children a lot more.

Then we have the story about a 15-year-old boy.
Senator ABOUREZK. Would you like to tell that for ·the record?
Ms. LAWRENCE. Yes, I would.
I'll call this boy Sammy. He's 15 years old, and he has two little

brothers, and Sammy was sent off to boarding school somewhere in
Oregon or Idaho. I forget where it was.

Senator ABOUREZK. Was he from Rosebud?
Ms. LAWRENCE. Yes.
I have no idea who sent him off to the boarding school, or if it was

his choice or anything about it. All I remember about this is that he
was back for Christmas for vacation from having gone there. When
I got there, when I pulled up, Sammy came out to the car, and I
asked him if his parents were at home, and he said no.

I asked him if there was any adult I could talk to, and he told me
no. He didn't want me to go near the house.

I had already gotten out of my vehicle and started for the door.
I went up to the door and knocked on the door, and this lady came
to the door. She was pretty well intoxicated, and she wasn't very
happy to see me. She told me that if I was from the welfare agency
or from the police department, she did not want to talk 1;0 me at all.

Senator ABOUREZK. Who was the lady?
Ms. LAWRENCE. I would rather keep her identity.
Senator ABOUREZK. I mean, was it his mother or what?
Ms. LAWRENCE. Yes, it was his mother.
And she told me then that she was having a party and she did

not want to be disturbed, and if there was any more welfare workers
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or police or anybody to come over, she said she would just as well
send the kids with them and be done with it.

I tried to talk to her and she wouldn't listen. She ended up
slamming the door in my face, so I wound up back at the car.

Sammy came up there and he told me that his mother was drunk
and for me not to take offense at what all she said and that his
mother was pitiful but right then she was drunk. And he wanted to
know if he could talk to me.

It was pretty cold out, and I told him let's get in the car where
it's warm. We got in the car and he started to talk, and he told me
that he didn't want to go back to school. He wanted to stay and take
care of his little brothers, and he was afraid if he went back to school,
his little brothers would be taken away and that he didn't think
that his brothers should leave their mother.

Before I left, he wanted to know if he could borrow a dollar so he
could buy something to eat for his brothers.

He told me then that if I told anyone that his mother was drunk
or anybody came over there to take the children, that he would
take his little brothers and go up in the hills. He said that he knew
a cave somewhere where no one would ever find them.

I talked to him and assured him that I wouldn't say anything to
anyone, but that I would like to help the whole family if I could.
Several times after that, I went back and I found the mother in the
same condition, and when she was sober she was convinced that
the whole community and the fact that all the people around her had
condemned her the way she was drinking and carrying on. She didn't
want to give up her children, and the children didn't want to leave
her.

I worked with them and visited them several times and finally
went to the probation and parole office, talked to the people there,
and finally worked things out so that Sammy could stay and go to
school there. So he's going to school there and he's now working
part time. He's got his mother to where she's staying sober a lot
more, maybe a few weeks at a time now. What she is doing now,
she's taking her ADC check, when she cashes them, she lets Sammy
have the family money.

He's been able to take his family to the movies a time or two since
he's gotten a part-time job. I believe given a chance, he's. working
with his mother, and a lot more people did care about their people
that are having problems; regardless of what kind of problem it is,
I think these families could stay together and they wouldn't have
to be separated.

I also know of six children that were taken by their paternal aunt
after the children's parents were deceased. These children were taken
to Tennessee, and the paternal aunt took the children. The tribal
court let her have the children with the understanding that they
will keep them together, but after she got them back to Tennessee,
for some reason or another, she put these children in separate adoptive
homes. She signed the papers for them to be adopted out, and the
Rosebud Tribe is objecting to this.

They are, right now, trying to get these children back. As far as
I know, they are waiting for an attorney to represent the children
so they can be brought back to Rosebud Reservation.
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Senator ABOUREZK. Mary Ann, do you have more of these things
that you would like to tell to the committee?

Ms. LAWRENCE. Yes, if I can get my head together.
,Sena.tor AB0U:REZK.. There has been a rollcall vote just called.

I m gomg to adjourn Just long enough, just 10 or 15 minutes, long
enough for me to go over and vote and come back.

I will just be in there, and we will have just a short recess until
that time.

So you will have a little bit of time to get your head together. You
do very well; I appreciate it.

We will recess temporarily.
[A short recess was taken.]
Senator ABOURZK. We will resume the hearing now. I'm sorry.
Would you like to go ahead and finish?
Ms. LAWRENCE. Yes.
Another thing I would like to talk about is the morale problem.
There wa~ a case where she lost her children 13 years ago. There

were four children that she lost, and she fought for these children for
the past several years clear up until 1970, I think it was that she finally
ended up taking her case to the State supreme court. '
. It started out that she was picked up for some misdemeanor, and at the

time, her ba~y w~s 4 months old. She was still nursing her baby when
they put her m jail, She had her baby in jail for 17 days. The Nebraska
State Welfare came along and took her children and the baby that
she had in jail, aJ?-d they went into the country where the father of
the other three children had the children, and the county sheriff went
out there WIth a ?ourt order and picked up the other three children.
She was not married to the man at the time, but the children carried
hIS name. They couldn't get married because the father was Japanese
and Nebraska would not recognize interracial marriages. So severai
weeks after she lost the children, she finally married the man.

She still hadn't got the children back. She went to the State supreme
court, and the Judge ruled In favor of the parents. So she waited to
bring the children back, got clothes for them, bunkbeds and whatever
to get their home ready to bring the children back. . '

Then the judge changed his mind afterwards and told her she could
Il;ot have the children back because they were in the process of adop­
tions. The two older children are in Omaha, Children's Home Society
and the other ones have been lost for good. She has never found out
where her other children are.

She came to me just about a month ago and wanted to know if there
was anyone anywhere that could help her get these children back.

There's another case right there in Rosebud. A girl was in the
hospital! an unwed. mother..The welfare workers kept after her when
she was In the hospital wanting her to sign papers for adoption and she
did not want to give up her baby. She came to us and wanted to know
If there was any way she could keep her baby and she still didn't sign
the papers.

We went to look at something that we could get for the layette so
she could take her baby home. We finally got some clothes for this
baby and she took the baby home.

As of last week, she told me that the welfare workers are still wanting
her to sign the adoption papers.

r
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Those kind of things still go on right on the reservation. A lot of these
children have been taken.

I feel like the tribe itself should have exclusive jurisdiction over all
their members, whether they are on a reservation or off the reservation.

Another thing, is like this girl was kicked out of her own family's
home when she became pregnant and she didn't have any place to
go so she went to the man that was responsible and he also, when
she had the baby, kicked her out. So, she didn't have any other place
to go and that's why the welfare told her there is no other alternative,
that she would have to sign adoption papers and give up her baby.

Senator ABOUREZK. Mary Ann, at this time I'm going to move
on and let Richard testify. We're now running up against the time
clock and I have to preside over the Senate at 5 o'clock and we have
Richard and then Esther Mays from Detroit, Mich. yet, to testify.

I want to tell you how valuable your testimony has been, and of
course we want to get the statistics you gathered. We would very
much like to have those. .

Richard do you have a prepared statement?
Mr. LONE DOG. No; I don't. I wasn't aware of this meeting. I

was coming to Washington anyway and I think it was about Thursday
night we heard it on the news.

Senator ABOUREZK. About these hearings here?
Mr. LONE DOG. Yes; about these hearings here. So, we weren't

able to prepare a statement.
I might give you a little breakdown. I am the director of the de­

tention center which deals in foster children. I am the director of
the day care center and also the director of Good Hope Shelter. So,
this is more or less in my area so they chose me to testify here.

My testimony here will not be as the director of the center, but as
a member of the Rosebud Sioux Tribe.

I think everything that I would have to comment on today has
been said over and over many times here. I have a few statistics here
that I have gotten from the State of South Dakota and the number
of Indian children that have been put up for adoption in that State.

I'll read these numbers off to you briefly. This is a memorandum
to Diane Turten, superintendent of social services, or the supervisor
of social services from the regional director of Tripp County Welfare,
Winner, S. Dak.

Subjects, statistics regarding foster children and adoptions, adop­
tions statewide:

In 1967 to 1968 a total of 111 Indian children were adopted, 46 to
Indian families, 65 to non-Indian families.

In 1968 to 1969, the total of 147 children were adopted, 57 to
Indian families and 80 to non-Indian families.

In 1969 to 1970 a total of 144 children; 54 to Indian families and
90 to non-Indian families. .

In 1970 to 1971 a total of 183 children were adopted, 67 to Indian
families, and 116 to non-Indian families.

In 1971 to 1972, a total of 159 were adopted, 53 were adopted to
Indian families, 106 to non-Indian families.

In 1972 to 1973 a total of 164 were adopted, 77 to Indian families
and 87 to non-Indian families.
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I think those figures are self-explanatory of the situation that
we're in at Rosebud, S. Dak. at the present time.

In Tripp County, there were 12 children placed in individual
foster homes. Eleven are non-Indian homes and one is an Indian home.

In Tripp County 12 Indian homes are licensed and, 12 non-Indian
homes are licensed and 2 Indian homes are licensed. This is in Tripp
Coun~.

In uregory County there are four licensed foster. care homes; two
non-Indian foster care homes.

It says here that approximately 10 percent were placed in Indian
foster homes, of all the children that were placed in foster care homes
in the State.

Foster care homes, 1973, there are 762 foster homes of which,
approximately 100 are Indian foster homes. There are 363 Indian
children in care statewide, of which 131 were in Indian foster homes
and 232 were in non-Indian homes.

Statewide a total of 1,041, of which 353 were Indian. This is the
number of homes statewide.

Foster care homes, 1,041 a total of which 363 are Indian.
So, that, in a sense, is self-explanatory.
For the State, or the BIA's failure to establish Indian foster care

homes on the reservation is just the lack of concern for the Indian
people. The BIA welfare office is basically a place where they write
checks out. There is no communication between the home and the
BIA as far as child guidance, home care, counseling, medical and
dental. You've got 3 people in that office that is responsible for 6,000
people and I'm using 6,000 as a minimum figure.

So, this in itself is self-explanatory. All these people can do is more
or less sit back there and hope to keep up on their check writing.

There is no day-to-day accounts of families, right on down the
line.

I've asked them time and time again why is this so and their
comment is that we don't have the staff, we don't have the money.
But, why don't you have the staff and why don't you have the money
since this is one of your trust responsibilities and again they're unable
to answer this question. They say it's because it's not appropriated.
But, why wasn't it appropriated, or if it was, why wasn't it funded.

Then we get into the area of finances on which I could go on all
day, but this again is self-explanatory.

The inability of the BIA or the Federal Government to recognize
their trust responsibility, not only to recognize them but to implement
them on the reservation. Subsequently, the tribe has to do this
theirselves, with the moneys that they borrow or get from other
agencies such as the State, LEA is one area, and right on down the
line. This shouldn't have to be so.

We're talking about, basically, welfare here now, social services,
which is a low priority on any reservation because the reservations
are in the position now that everything is a crisis. So, when they get
a dime, that dime is already spent on another priority. We can't
spend that for home coordinators, that money is already spent.
We've got to go up there and hassle the State and BIA to get funds
to do this with. This is the position that I have been in.

l.'t
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I'll give you an example. The Detention Center provides the iden­
tical, same type of services as LSS and I know that not all of you are
familiar with LSS, Lutheran Social Services.

We get $8.36 a day for the children that we have there in the center
from the State and from the BIA. The Lutheran Social Services
gets $30 a day per child for the same type of services that we supply.

We probably provide more services as far as moral services because
we maintain these children there on the reservation, but this is the
dilemma that we're in.

Indian foster care homes, for example, there's two elderly people
that keep five of their grandchildren. They get $35 a month per child
to keep these people. Lutheran Social Services gets $900 a month to
keep an Indian child.

Senator ABOUREZK. How much?
Mr. LONE Doo, It's $900 a month.
Senator ABOUREZK. A month.
Mr. LONE DOG. $30 a day.
Senator ABOUREZK. Where do they get it from?
Mr. LONE DOG. From the State and BIA. We get at the Detention

Center $277 a month per child, but that's not $900
So, this is the dilemma that we're in, in trying to establish Indian

foster care homes on the reservations. They say, sure we'll set you up
one if you can meet the State requirements and get a State license
and right on down the line, but when we do meet these requirements
and get all that, then like I say, we get $8.36 a day while they get $30.

And, the same way with these individuals that keep Indian children.
Getting back to this old couple that keep the five grandchildren.

They get $35 a month per child, while Lutheran Social Services
get $900 a month per child and then they wonder why there's isn't
any Indians on foster care in the reservations. This is the reason why.

Two people that are living on old age and get $35 a month for
their child when the children range from 15 on down to 9 years old
and have to send them to school, and all the other expenses that go
along with it. Not only that, but whenever they get, like, this new
bill that was passed to increase the old-age benefits. Sure, it increased
the old-age benefits, but the State also deducted that amount on their
welfare for those kids.

Then, they wonder why we don't have Indian foster homes on the
reservations. This is why, because No.1, the State requirements
don't fit the reservation, period.

I'm not saying they're too strict, they just don't fit the reservation
period.

The other thing is educational requirements. I mean, if we're going
to staff the facility, we have to have people with B.S. and Ph. D.'s,
masters, right on down the line, and where are we going to get those
on the reservation, especially when you pay them $2.50 an hour.
Where are you going to get these types of people?

Education is fine. You can have a masters, a Ph. D. or whatever,
but you're not going to be able to apply that education if you can't
communicate with the child you're talking to.

These requirements don't meet our standards as far as reservations
are concerned because we've got to have counselors, social workers, and
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people that can sit down and communicate with these children on their
level and these don't meet State requirements. .

The situation that has been talked about here, and related to time
and time again, kind of sets me back and makes m.e look back to my
childhood because this is the same situation that I lived through fr?m
the boarding school era right on up the ladder, from broken family,
foster care homes, and right on }lP the ladder, I was fortunat,e, I
never got adopted out, but I can ~ say this about .a lot of orphans;
as far as the tribal court, and they Imply that the tribal cou~ts we~e a
part of this setup. I don't know if you people are familiar WIth tribal
courts funded through BIA, they are tribal courts, right. But, who
signs the check, who pulls the strings, whi~h tune do theY,dance to? .

This is the question we should be asking ourselves. I m not saymg
this is so now, because in the past 2 or 3 years there. has been a great
movement away from this through BIA contracts right on down the
line, Maybe the. tribes are f~rced into. this ~hing. . , .

My opinion IS they were forced mto It and It s no~ ~ .good thmg
because they are assuming some of the trust responsibilities of the
U.S. Government.

Senator ABOUREZK. Richard, there's been another vote call.
You've given some very good testimony and I wish th~t we could

continue. What I'm going to have to do now IS recess until tomorrow
morning. The last witness, I'll have to ask her to come back; Esther
Mays, if you will come in the morning at 9 o'clock I'll. take your te~­
timony then because I have to vote and I have to preside and there s
not enough time to take any more witnesses today.

I want to express my gratitude, Richard and Mary Ann and all
the other witnesses that have appeared today. . .

We are going to try to get somethmg done to correct the situation.
Thank you very much.

The hearings are recessed until 9 a.m. tomorrow.
[Whereupon the subcommittee recessed, to reconvene Tuesday,

April 9, 1974.]

INDIAN CHILD WELFARE PROGRAM

TUESDAY, APRIL 9, 1974

U.S. SENATE,
SUBCOMMITTEE ON INDIAN AFFAIRS,

OF THE COMMITTEE ON INTERIOR AND INSULAR AFFAIRS,
Washington, D.O.

The subcommittee met at 9 :10 a.m., pursuant to notice, in room
3110 Dirksen Office Building, Hon, James Abourezk presiding.

Present: Senators Abourezk and Bartlett.
Also present: Jerry T. Verkler, staff director, and Forrest Gerard,

professional staff member.
Senator ABOUREZK. The Indian Affairs Subcommittee will resume

the hearings now.
The first witness this morning is from Detroit, Mich., Esther Mays.

Esther, do you want to come to the witness table?
I want to apologize to you for cutting you off last night. I want to

express the committee's gratitude for your staying overnight.

STATEMENT OF ESTHER MAYS OF THE NATIVE AMERICAN CHILD
PROTECTION COUNCIL, DETROIT, MICH.

Mrs. MAYS. Since you're handing out compliments, I'd like to com­
pliment you on your timing. It's almost as good as ours.

My name is Esther Mays and I am from Detroit, Mich. The organi­
zation that I'm representing is called the Native American Child
Protection Council. I am on the board of directors.

Pretty much of what I have to say is the usual thing that has been
said from what I heard yesterday. However, I will go through the
act again, so bear with me.

The Native American Child Protection Council is a nonprofit
organization with present membership of approximately 50 families
throughout the Michigan area. This organization was founded as
a response to the needs of many Indian families, particularly as it
relates to Indian children.

The problems are numerous and varied, especially in the area of
child placement. Our organization is concerned with the practices
and policies of various social service agencies as it affects the lives
of the Native American community. Our organization is a response
to the concern of many Indians throughout the State of Michigan
regarding the treatment of Native American children. Through
numerous inquiries to us from Indians, and various investigations
of the policies and practices of social service organizations through
the Indian community, we find many problems exist, such as: Indian
children are being placed in non-Indian foster and adoptive homes
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